

# UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG school of business, economics and law

# Post exit operating performance of PE-backed firms: Evidence from Sweden

Master thesis in Financial and Industrial Management (30 credits) Department: Industrial and Financial Management Author: Johan Medin Supervisor: Hans Jeppsson June 2014 Post exit operating performance of PE-backed firms: Evidence from Sweden Master's Thesis in Financial and Industrial Management JOHAN MEDIN Supervisor: HANS JEPPSSON Department of Industrial and Financial Management University of Gothenburg School of Business, Economics and Law

## Abstract

This study investigates whether the effects of PE-investors ownership persist over time. Explicitly, an evenly distributed sample of BO- and VC-backed firms, 112 in total, are selected from the Swedish PE transaction market during the years between 2004 and 2009. The firms' post exit operating performance are then examined in relation to a selected sample of matched firms to assess their post exit operating performance, using a set of accounting profitability and earnings measures. The findings from this study suggests that PE-backed firms demonstrate superior operating performance post exit, which to a large extent is driven by superior performance of VC-backed firms. BO-backed firms, however, did not demonstrate superior post exit operating performance. In addition, the operating performance with regards to first time BO as well as different exit routes are specifically investigated, but were not yielding any results that could lead to a conclusion of either better or worse post exit operating performance.

Keywords: Private equity, Buyout, Venture capital, post exit operating performance, Leveraged Buyout

# Contents

Abstract	3
Preface	5
Acknowledgements	5
Introduction	6
Private equity	8
Theory and literature review	11
Hypothesis development	17
Data and methodology	20
Dependent variables	22
Independent variables	24
Empirical model	25
Results and analysis	28
Sample statistics	
Univariate analysis	29
Hypothesis results and analysis	31
Conclusions	
References	41

# Preface

This Master's thesis was carried out during 2014. A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Business and Administration at the School of Business, Economics and Law, Gothenburg University in Gothenburg, Sweden. The project was conducted at the Department of Industrial and Financial Management. Johan Medin have been responsible for writing this thesis, Hans Jeppsson for supervision.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my supervisor at the Department of Business and Administration Hans Jeppsson for his help and guidance throughout this thesis. I am deeply grateful for the mentoring.

Gothenburg, June 2014 Johan Medin

## Introduction

Private equity (henceforth PE) as an asset class has grown in popularity and has transformed the corporate landscape considerably worldwide, from the time it initially emerged as an important phenomenon in the 80s until today. During 2013, PE-funds attracted approximately \$461 billion in capital inflows worldwide and global PE deal volume amounted to approximately \$231 billion in 2013 (Bain & Company, 2014). Evidently, PE-investments account for a substantial part of the total M&A transaction volume worldwide.

The rapid growth of the PE industry has attracted ample attention from the academic field. Although PE still could be considered as a relatively young and immature asset class, scholars have provided with huge amount of research in the area. The previous literature will however be quite extensively discussed in the following sections in this paper and thus not further discussed here. Of special importance to this study however is the research targeting the post exit operating performance of PE-backed firms. Since this topic is largely unresolved and has important implications to bridge the moral hazard problems associated with PE-backed firms exiting their investments, this area is important to address. In addition, Sweden being a very transparent country in terms of gaining access to accounting data, which naturally are important in these types of studies, provided further motives for choosing this topic and this geographical area. Furthermore, Sweden has a very high PE penetration rate<sup>1</sup> relative to other countries, which also made this region interesting to examine.

Hence, the purpose of this study is to examine whether the effects of PE-investor ownership persist over time. More specifically, this will be tested by examining the post exit operating performance of PE-backed firms, targeting the Swedish market between 2004 and 2009. The post exit operating performance will be defined and measured by some specific accounting profitability and earnings measures of the PEbacked firms and then these results will be compared with the operating performance of a selected set of comparable firms, using a specific comparable firm methodology. In addition, various exit routes of the PE-backed firms will be analysed more specifically to investigate whether they exhibit different results. Furthermore, Buyout-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Private equity investments relative to a country's GDP

backed (henceforth BO) firms specifically will also be tested whether first time BObacked firms and secondary or third BO yield different post exit results. The tests will be conducted through univariate analysis and OLS regression models, in accordance with previous studies.

The study presents evidence that PE-backed firms exhibit higher profitability during the post exit period relative to the matched firms – to a large extent driven by superior operating performance of the VC-backed firms (henceforth VC). BO-backed firms did however not exhibit higher profitability over the post exit period. An additional variable was added in an attempt to shed further light to the exhibited absence of post exit operating performance improvement in BO-backed firms when examining first time BO- and secondary and third time BO-backed firms specifically. This did not however yield any conclusive results. With regards to different exit routes, the data set were deemed as too small to provide for any conclusive results, hence potentially constitutes a promising area for future research, comprising a larger data set.

The disposition of this paper will follow as this: i) a brief introduction to the asset class of PE will be discussed in the section "*Private Equity*"; ii) previous literature relevant for this thesis will be discussed under "*Theory and literature review*", this section will also contain further motives for why the targeted geographical scope of the thesis was selected; iii) the research hypothesis will consequently be presented in the section "*Hypothesis development*" and will be based on the discussion presented in the previous section; iv) The gathering of data and the overall methodology adopted when conducting this study will be presented in the section "*Data and Methodology*"; v) the results from the study will be presented and analysed in the section "*Results and analysis*", where the result output tables also will presented; vi) the main conclusions from the study will be presented and discussed along with the implications in the section "*Conclusions*"; vii) the references used in the thesis will be presented in the section "*References*".

## **Private equity**

PE as an asset class is usually broadly defined as equity investments in private companies in which the owner has a medium to long-term investment horizon and intends to be active. PE can then roughly be divided between BO and VC investments. The definition is not uniform and can be defined ambiguously depending on the source, but in general terms, VC investments are characterised by investments in the relatively early stages of a company's development and in small companies that usually possesses few tangible assets and often operate in markets that change very rapidly (Gompers and Lerner, 2001). VC-investors usually acquire a stake in the company that amounts to roughly 20-40%, i.e. a non-controlling investment (Kaplan and Stromberg, 2009). In addition, due to problems associated with asymmetric information, the VC-investor will usually employ control mechanisms, such as staged capital infusions (Sahlman, 1990) and syndicated investments (Lerner, 1995). VC control mechanisms also includes possessing of board seats as a monitoring mechanism and employment of stock option schemes for management in order to align interests (Gompers and Lerner, 2001). These mechanisms are however also adopted by BO-investors.

BO-investments are conversely characterised by control investments targeting mature and stable companies (Jensen, 1989). The investment firm usually acquire the target company using an equity ticket combined with a substantial portion of debt to finance the transaction – a leveraged buyout (henceforth LBO). According to Kaplan and Stromberg (2009), apparent dissimilarities between VC- and BO-investments are the differences in: i) the target company stage; ii) the acquired stake of the company; iii) and the amount of leverage used to finance the transaction. Naturally, when the company becomes more stable and mature and the cash-flow generated from the business are high enough to sustain a capital structure with increasingly amount of debt, it could be rational for an investor to issue more debt in order to utilize the benefits of debt, i.e. the interest tax shield and the agency benefits of debt. However, if the company issues too much debt or issues debt too early in the company stage, the management may have an incentive to increase risk to undesirable levels (Jensen and Meckling, 1976). Similarities for both VC- and BO-investments are however the viable exit routes for the investors – including a sale to either another PE-investor or a strategic buyer or an exit through an IPO. According to Gompers and Lerner (2001), the most profitable exit route for VC-investors is through an IPO, which could be explained by the fact that IPO as an exit route only is a viable option for well-performing companies (Meles et al., 2014). For BO-backed firms, an increasingly more common exit route is through a sale to another financial buyer – or a secondary BO. Naturally this evolvement follows from a rapid growth of the PE-industry globally. Between 2000 and 2004, secondary BO transactions accounted for more than 20% of total BO transaction value worldwide (Kaplan and Stromberg, 2009). Secondary BO transactions declined in the peak of the financial crisis but have further increased in volume in the aftermath of the crisis amounting to approximately 60% of the total BO transaction volume between 2010 and 2011 (Bonini, 2013).

Common features of both VC- and BO-investors are also the fact that they both usually raise money from investors or capital providers, denoted Limited Partners (henceforth LPs), through certain closed funds structured in a way where the PE advisory firm, denoted General Partner (henceforth GP), advises the fund on investments and divestments. When providing for this service, the GP is compensated through management fees and carried interest schemes, which are regulated through more or less complex terms and agreements negotiated by the LP-base and the GP (e.g. Gompers and Lerner, 2001; Hardymon, 2011).

As previously mentioned, PE has grown immensely in the last decades and has altered the M&A market and the corporate governance models profoundly worldwide. Interestingly enough, Jensen (1989) argued in his influential paper that publicly traded companies eventually would seize to exist. Jensen stipulated that the organizational structure of an LBO was far superior to the publicly traded corporation. Jensen pointed to several key explaining factors; i) the highly levered capital structure of the LBO which incentivized management to cut back on wasteful spending and increase productivity and efficiency, ii) the substantial equity investments by management forming an aligned interest with owners ensuring that management would not make short-term cash flow improvements at the expense of the long-term value of the firm, iii) the active participation by owners ensuring enhanced monitoring and ability to provide for value-added long-term strategic inputs for the firm. Large

9

amount of research supports these findings (e.g. Kaplan, 1989; Smith 1990). In a pioneering study by Kaplan (1989), the author concludes that the superior operating performance post-BO constitutes an important condition for yielding premium returns.

The vast interest from LPs to invest in PE-funds would not have grown this immensely if the GPs, on an aggregated level, had not been able to yield a satisfying return in relation to the risk. Theoretically, the fact that BO-backed firms tend to be more levered than non BO-backed firms, should not alone affect a rational LP's decision to invest in the fund since higher leverage on any given deal would lead to a higher expected return but simultaneously lead to a proportionally higher risk given the agency cost of debt, according to the famous Modigliani and Miller theorem (Axelsson et al., 2009). Hence, superior performance borne through an active ownership appears more likely to be the explaining factor for attracting the large capital inflows from LPs, which naturally seek a high return relative to the risk undertaken by the investor. As concluded by Harris et al. (2012), the returns demonstrated by PE-investors are far superior to the returns yielded by the public market. Harris et al. examine the returns exhibited by US BO- and VC-investors respectively and are able to conclude that the average BO-fund outperform the S&P 500 by on average 3% per year and on average 20-27% over the life of the fund. The VC-investors however on average only exhibits superior returns relative to the public market during the 90s, which indeed could be the explaining factor as to why VCinvestors have experienced more difficulties in raising funds relative to the BOinvestors (Kaplan and Lerner, 2010).

### Theory and literature review

With regards to the vast interest the asset class private equity has attracted ever since its broad propagation during the mid-80s and forward, it is not surprising that it also has involved a high level of activity from the academic field. Surprising however could arguably be the general negative public attitude towards the asset class (Morris, 2010) given the large amount of research that have been issued exhibiting superior value creation in several areas in PE-owned companies. Numerous scholars have exhibited the superiority of private equity as an asset class and as an owner. PEbacked firms tend to grow faster than other ownership forms (e.g. Engel, 2002; Bertoni, 2011), show higher productivity and profitability and overall enhanced operating performance (e.g. Kaplan, 1989; Smith, 1990; Davis, 2008) and patent more (Kortum and Lerner, 2000). In general, PE-investors transforms the companies into more professional organisations according to the long term value-added hypothesis (e.g. Hellman and Puri, 2002), as well as are better at selecting high quality firms to invest in according to the screening role hypothesis (e.g. Chemmanur et. al., 2011). PE-backed firms also show higher market returns post-IPO (e.g. Brav and Gompers, 1997; Belghitar and Dixon 2012). Research has to a large extent focused on PE ownership contribution and value creation in VC-backed firms where it has been proven that PE-investors supports and guides the entrepreneurs with making correct long term strategic decisions for the firm (Barringer, 2005) as well as providing valuable business contacts and network for the entrepreneur (Hsu, 2006; Lindsey, 2008).

Of special interest to this study is the long term value added hypothesis which suggests that the PE-investor provides for value increasing activities within the company that goes beyond what is stipulated by prior financial theories. As explained in the study by Hellman and Puri from 2002:

"We find that a closely involved investor can have a broader impact on the development of the companies they finance, suggesting that there are value-added inputs that venture capitalists provide that go beyond that suggested by traditional financial intermediation theory" (Hellman and Puri, 2002) The value increasing activities or inputs that were revealed in the study by Hellman and Puri were; i) adoption of human resource policies, ii) the imposition of stock option plans, iii) hiring of marketing professionals, iv) that VC-backed firms also are more prone to replace the founder with a more suitable CEO. Hellman and Puri denote these activities "professionalization measures" which can be exhibited in firms with closely involved investors such as PE-investors (Hellman and Puri, 2002). The study targets VC-backed firms but several studies have been published exhibiting the same phenomenon in BO-backed firms.

The value-added hypothesis is also demonstrated in papers by Kaplan and Stromberg (2003), and Colombo and Grilli (2010). It is therefore not surprising that studies by for example Kaplan (1989), revealed increasing operating performance, in terms of EBIT and net cash flow, post-buyout relative to pre-buyout. This supports the theory of value added operational inputs for BO-backed firms as well, as was furthered by Jensen (1989) – described in the previous section. In addition, Wright et al. (2009), are able to conclude that BO-investors often have unique sector expertize and substantial experience in building companies and therefor are able to contribute with substantial operational lasting value creation measures in their portfolio companies and thus simply are fit to make the companies better. Examples of concrete operational long term value added inputs with regards to BO-investors are presented in the study where the authors argue that BO-investors supports the companies with the following: i) investments and knowledge in new product development; ii) new investments in plants and equipment; iii) supports the company in market expansion.

Contradicting to the theory of the long-term value-added hypothesis is however the short term value added hypothesis, which stipulates that since PE-investors mainly are focused on maximizing their own wealth it could have long-term negative effects for the firm. For example Wang (2003), argues that there is a conflict of interest between the entrepreneur and the PE-backed firm that leads to negative long term effects for the firm. In addition, the PE-investor might have an incentive to cut back on capital expenditure in order to increase margins in the short term, which potentially could have damaging effects for the firm in the long run. Jain and Kini (1995), do however not exhibit such behaviour in their study when analysing post-exit performance of PE-backed firms. Wright et al. (2009), are able to conclude that PE-investors are more prone to stripping the firm of assets than other ownership forms. However, the authors

are unable to link this behaviour to long term negative effects for the companies. Another short term value added hypothesis frequently depicted academically is earnings management – usage of accounting techniques in order to smooth out or improve earnings prior to a sale or IPO. However, Chou et al. (2009), argues that there are little evidence supporting that earnings management measures adopted by PE-investors could be linked to poor post issue performance of PE-owned companies. Previous studies have however exhibited ambiguous results (e.g. Teoh et al. 1998).

The long term and short term value added hypothesis suggests that the value increasing (or destroying) activities potentially could have effect for the operating performance even in the post-exit period of former PE-backed firms. Prior research targeting the post-exit operating performance of PE-backed companies, that this paper aims to address, are covered in papers by Jain and Kini (1995), Wang (2003), Coakley (2007), Levis (2011), Tian (2012) and Meles et al. (2014). Jain and Kini's pivotal paper from 1995 made ground-breaking conclusions by confirming that VC-backed IPOs had better post-exit operating performance (proxied by ROA) than non VCbacked IPOs, which the market had acknowledged by valuing VC-backed firms higher in general than non VC-backed firms on a p/e-multiple – a VC-monitoring premium valuation. Previous research had indicated that VC-investors focus on investments with substantial requirements of monitoring services and Jain and Kini exhibited that US VC-investors provide for this service even post IPO, and thus support the operational value creation of the portfolio company. The findings are important since it demonstrates the post-issue long term value added hypothesis in VC-backed firms, which has implications for the decision-making process for both investors and entrepreneurs of companies - entrepreneurs will be more likely to benefit from premium valuation at the time of exit and IPO investors are more likely to benefit from superior operating gains.

Following Jain and Kini's study, several other papers have been issued on the subject, with varying results. Another US study by Tian (2012) confirms the superiority of VC-backed firms with regards to post-IPO operating performance as well as higher market valuations at the time of exit. In addition, Levis (2011), exhibited similar results when examining the UK market. Contrasting findings are however found in studies by Wang (2003) and Coakley (2007). Coakley studied the UK VC- and BO-market between 1985 and 2003 and Wang studied the Singaporean VC-market

between 1987 and 2001 and demonstrated worse post-IPO operating performance for VC-backed firms relative to non VC-backed firms. Coakley argues that the results revealed in his study largely can be explained by the boom-and-bust years of 1998-2001, distorting the results and can conclude that the results therefor not are robust. Nevertheless it can thus be concluded that previous findings have yielded ambiguous results and varied substantially between markets and time periods, perhaps reflecting the contradicting implications from the short term and long term value added hypothesis.

The study by Meles et al. (2014), targets the Italian PE-market with exits between 2001 and 2008 and with both BO- backed and VC-backed firms included in the analysis. The authors compare the PE-backed firms post-exit performance with a matched sample gathered in accordance with the methodology adopted by Tian, (2012). The authors exhibited that only VC-backed firms increase their post-exit operating performance and find no evidence for BO-backed firms. Interestingly enough, the study also shows that PE-backed firms exiting through an IPO exhibit lower positive change in operating performance than compared to other exit routes. The result could be seen as surprising since only high-quality firms should have the opportunity to exit through an IPO. In addition, the results contradict the monitoring role hypothesis of PE-investors, exhibited by Jain and Kini (1995). On the other hand, companies exiting through an IPO tend to be larger in size and more mature than non-public firms and since Meles et al. exhibited that BO-backed firms did not outperform their matched sample over the post-exit period this could indeed be the explanation.

An interesting and potential explanation to the results exhibited by Meles et al. regarding the lack of superior post exit performance concerning BO-backed firms, aside from the apparent implications from the short term value added hypothesis, might be that there could be differences between first time and secondary BO-backed firms in terms of operating performance. In a study by Bonini (2013), it was concluded that first time BO-backed firms exhibited superior operating performance during the holding period, in accordance with previous studies (e.g. Kaplan, 1989; Smith, 1990), however, second and third time BO-backed firms did not exhibit superior operating performance. The result seems somewhat logical since value-added input strategies implemented by BO-investors might be difficult to implement more than once, arising from difficulties to reap the benefits of the profitability increasing measures when another BO-investor decides to acquire the firm. In order to increase profitability even further, the new BO-investor is required to target value-added input strategies for the firm that perhaps are not that apparent or may be harder to implement since the initial BO-investor already have reaped the benefits of the "easy" value-added input strategies. Hence, failing to consider these differences in "operating performance potential" between companies could be a plausible explanation for the results exhibited by Meles et al. (2014). This theory could also explain some of the results from the previous findings. Jain and Kini, (1995) for example had a bias towards high tech and only targeted VC-backed firms while Coakley targeted an evenly distributed sample between BO and VC. Even though these are only speculative ideas, the theory seems interesting for further investigation.

Previous research in the area of post-exit operating performance of PE-backed firms has to a large extent focused on IPO as an exit route. Meles et al. (2014) argues that it would be more appropriate to also examine other exit routes in the study – sale to financial or strategic buyer – and a failure to do so would lead to a bias affecting the results. This due to the following three reasons; i) IPO only constitutes a small portion compared to other exit routes for PE-investors ii) IPO is only a viable exit option for well-performing companies iii) The PE-investors remain with a substantial equity stake even after the IPO has been made. Previous research has also exhibited differences in firm characteristics depending on different exit routes decisions (Guo and Sørensen, 2007) leading to an adverse selection in the firm sample when only examining one exit route.

As this paper aims to build on previous aforementioned research and shed some light to the largely unexplained post-exit operating performance of PE-backed firms, the Meles et al. methodology will be adopted when examining the Swedish market – enabling a more thorough and broad analysis than simply only looking at IPO as an exit route. In addition, Sweden has been concluded to be an interesting market as it constitutes one of the most private equity penetrated markets in the world and where PE has a longer history than for example the Italian market with several PE-investors being active for as long as since the early 90s (e.g. IK Investment Partners, EQT and Nordic Capital) enabling a larger sample of for example secondary BOs. According to EVCA statistics (EVCA statistics, 2013), the private equity investments in Sweden amounted to ~0.8% of GDP (PE penetration rate) between the years 2007-2011 – only

15

surpassed by UK in the European union which has private equity investments relative to GDP of ~1.2% (2007-2011). London being the world's financial centre naturally explains this statistics where the majority of the large pan-European PE-funds are located. More interesting is the large gap between Sweden and the third country with regards to PE penetration rate in the EU, which is France, amounting to ~0.4%. According to the World Bank, only the US-market, in addition to the UK market, surpasses Sweden globally in PE-penetration rate amounting to ~1.0% (avg. 2011-2012) (World Bank, 2013). Hence, it can be concluded that Sweden constitutes a highly interesting country for PE-investors to invest in and thus an interesting market to investigate.

The business school IESE and advisory and audit firm Ernst & Young have a collaboration in which they produce an annual Private equity attractiveness index in which they highlight certain key elements as to why Sweden is an attractive country to invest in. According to the publication Sweden has a very high level of innovation, large pool of well-educated people, low level of bribing and corruption, relatively low level of administrative burden on companies, high level of investor protection and legal enforcement that protects investor rights as well as a sophisticated and large capital market relative to its size, which combined constitutes as attractive features of the Swedish VC- and BO-market (The Venture Capital and Private Equity Country Attractiveness Index, 2013).

Since similar studies have been made on other countries where PE-penetration is high (UK- and US-market) (e.g. Jain and Kini, 1995; Coakley, 2007), It can also be of interest to investigate the Swedish market more thoroughly. In addition, since Sweden is a very transparent country in terms of gaining access to accurate accounting data for unlisted companies, this region seemed highly interesting for this type of study.

# Hypothesis development

Recognising the contradicting effects of the short term and long term value added hypothesis it is perhaps not surprising that previous research have borne ambiguous results on post-exit performance of PE-backed firms. Some papers exhibit that PE outperform relative to non PE-backed firms post-exit (Jain and Kini, 1995; Levis, 2011; Tian, 2012; Meles et al., 2014) and some papers demonstrate underperformance or inconclusive results from the data set (Wang, 2003; Coakley *et al.*, 2007). However, since the long term value added hypothesis seem to have the most support in the academic field, the first hypothesis is formulated in accordance with the long term value added hypothesis as follows:

# **H1:** *The profitability of PE-backed firms is expected to be higher over the post-exit period.*

Meles et al. (2014) argues that VC-investors in essence are "build winners" and that they provide for value-added activities (e.g. Hellman and Puri, 2002). For example, VC-investors provide for valuable business contacts (e.g. Hsu, 2006) and effective portfolio monitoring (e.g. Sahlman, 1990; Lerner, 1995), as well as several other value added operational activities and thus are likely to experience higher profitability in the post-exit period. One could however argue that another reason why VC-backed firms exhibit higher post-exit profitability could depend on investor bias. PE-investors in general invest in firms that perform better than the average firm, according to the screening role hypothesis (e.g. Chemmanur et. al., 2011). In addition, since usually only well-performing, "good", VC-backed firms are able to exit in the first place one could argue that there is another bias towards good firms to start out with in the data set of such a study. The aim, however, with this study is simply to examine if the long term or short term value added hypothesis could be extended to the Swedish market and made visible through higher or lower profitability in the post-exit period of PEbacked firms. Hence, the aforementioned theories are beyond the scope of this study but could potentially be of interest to further research. Hence, the second hypothesis is expressed in accordance with the long term value added hypothesis and in line with most previous findings as follows:

# **H2:** *The profitability of VC-backed firms is expected to be higher over the post-exit period.*

It seems unlikely, given the previous reasoning regarding BO-investors' ability to produce excess returns and attract substantial capital inflow that BO-investors do not provide for long term value-added activities. In a paper by Jelic and Wright (2011), the authors conclude that without consistent operating gains of the portfolio companies of BO-investors, it is unlikely that the excess returns exhibited by BOinvestors could persist over such a long time period as have been mentioned previously. Most BO-investors have a clear strategy in for example matters of corporate governance in order to assure the close involvement necessary to produce superior operating performance, as stipulated by e.g. Hellman and Puri (2002). For example, the Nordic BO-fund EQT are famous for their governance structure called "The Troika", where the CEO and Chairman of the Board combined with an EQT Partner form a special team in order to share information effectively and continuously as well as plan and execute on the best strategic route for the company going forward (EQT website). In addition, earlier studies have exhibited long term value added inputs from BO-investors (Kaplan, 1989; Jensen, 1989; Wright et al., 2009). Hence, even though Meles et al. (2014) exhibited in their study that BO-backed firms did not show higher profitability over the post-exit period, the third hypothesis is based on the theoretical background that largely supports the long term value added hypothesis in BO-backed firms and thus is expressed as follows:

# **H<sub>3</sub>:** *The profitability of BO-backed firms is expected to be higher over the post-exit period.*

In order to try to analyse the previous issue regarding the profitability change over the post-exit period in BO-backed firms specifically a bit further than the Meles et al. (2014) study, an additional hypothesis is furthered regarding BO-backed firms. The purpose being to try to investigate why previous findings have not exhibited higher post exit profitability for BO-backed firms, as has been the case for VC-backed firms. It is based on the findings exhibited by Bonini (2013), revealing superior operating performance for first time BO-backed firms and not for secondary BO-backed firms. Since these findings supports the theory that value creation is higher in first time BO than for secondary or third time BO, the study will examine whether these results also

could be extended to the post exit performance of PE-backed firms. Hence, the fourth hypothesis will be expressed as follows:

# **H4:** The profitability of BO-backed firms over the post-exit period is expected to be higher for a first-time BO than if it has been owned by BO-investors previously.

When conducting the study in accordance with the Meles et al. methodology, different exit routes can be analysed. As already mentioned, previous studies have failed to consider different exit routes when analysing the post-exit performance. Since prior research have exhibited differences in firm characteristics for different exit routes with regards to PE-exits (e.g. Sørensen, 2007; Guo et al., 2012), it would be fairly plausible that the different exit routes would yield different results. In addition, according to the theory of the monitoring role of PE-investors, companies that exit through an IPO should exhibit superior performance since the PE-investor remains with a significant ownership position in the company and thus are able to contribute with value added operational inputs that benefit the firm – the monitoring role hypothesis (Jain and Kini, 1995). Hence, the fifth and last hypothesis will be expressed as follows:

**Hs:** The profitability of PE-backed firms over the post-exit period is expected to be affected by the PE investor's exit strategy

## **Data and methodology**

In order to test the research hypotheses, a sample of Swedish PE-backed firms have been gathered that have been divested in the years between 2004 and 2009. The reason for choosing 2004 as start year are twofold: i) in order to avoid the bias that Coakly (2007), experienced by choosing PE-backed firms that were divested before or in the subsequent years of the IT-bubble, a period after this event have been chosen; ii) the screening possibilities and information gathering on databases utilized in this paper for operating metrics, (i.e. the Retriever database) are constraint to the last ten fiscal years for the companies in the study. The reason for choosing 2009 as the last year of study is simply due to the fact that three years of company accounting metrics data for the years subsequent to the divestment year is required in order to conduct the study. 2012 is the last year available of data for unlisted companies as of the date of gathering data for this study.

From the original sample of 201 PE-backed companies of Swedish origin that were divested in the years between 2004 and 2009, some companies were excluded. The main reasons for excluding companies were due to the following: i) the company had no registered annual reports for the required years and hence no accounting data available; ii) the company had been divested to a non-Swedish company with a foreign domicile and hence the company had not registered any reports to Bolagsverket (The Swedish Companies Registration Office) in the subsequent years of the divestment; iii) the company had been acquired by a strategic investor who had disjointed the company and therefore had seized to exist; iv) the company had been liquidated or gone bankrupt; v) some specific accounting metrics were unavailable to extract from the company data although reports had been filed at Bolagsverket.

The final list of companies that ultimately comprised the data set consequently amounted to 112 companies. However, important to allude is the fact that this reduction of the data set should not raise any major concerns as to the validity of the results of the study and the reason for this is twofold. One being that when dealing with a substantial amount of different accounting metrics for unlisted companies, a reduction in the data set is customary. Meles, et al. (2014), conducts a similar study on the Italian market and collects a sample from 2001-2008. Meles et al. starts out with a list of 206 PE-backed exits but due to difficulties in gathering data, the data set conclusively consists of 118 companies. Meles et al. also concludes that the main reason for a reduction in the data set is due to bankruptcies or simply due to unfeasibility to obtain accounting data. The second reason as to why the reduction in the data set should not affect the validity of the results is that there does not seem to be any underlying rationale as to why a reduction of the data set, based on these premises, should lead to a bias of well-performing or underperforming companies in the data set. Naturally, companies that have gone bankrupt are by definition underperforming companies but these exclusions represent only a minor part of the total amount of the excluded companies (13 companies). The largest amount of reductions are assignable to unfeasibility to obtain accounting data for various reasons and there is no evident rationale as to why this would lead to a bias in the data set – both well-performing and underperforming companies should exhibit equal probability of not supporting the dataset with the accounting metrics necessary for this type of study.

The main sources of information in collecting the data set is through Capital IQ (henceforth CIQ) when sourcing for the PE-backed exited transactions and Retriever as the main source of gathering information of unlisted company accounting data. The gathering of transaction data was complemented by individual searches on PE-investors websites. The usage of two sources of information with regards to transactions data are important since the usage of websites may pick up transactions that are missing by CIQ and third party sources, such as CIQ, are important since it may include transactions that are not included by the PE-investor due to a potential selection bias arising from voluntary reporting. Retriever is used as the main source of information with regards to accounting data. In order to check for errors, a random sample of five firms have been manually checked by downloading the annual report and calculate the accounting metrics manually – it has been able to conclude that based on this sample, the information provided by Retriever is accurate and thus constitute a reliable source of information. For GDP calculations, SCB (Statistics Sweden) was used as a source of information.

In order to be able to draw conclusions about the PE-backed companies' post exit performance, a peer group have been selected as a benchmark. This is in accordance with other papers studying the operating performance of PE-backed companies (e.g. Kaplan, 1989; Bergström, 2007; Tian, 2012; Meles et al., 2014). Explicitly, for every

single observation of PE-backed exits containing accounting data – 112 observations in total – a matching firm that are not PE-backed have been selected. The method used when selecting these peers are identical to the methodology adopted by Tian (2012), and Meles et al. (2014). For each sample firm, a matched firm have been selected using the Retriever screening tool and have been selected in accordance with the following criteria: i) in the year prior to the divestment year the matched firm had the same Retriever industry classification code; ii) sales amounting to 75-125% of the PE-backed company; iii) after the two first criteria are satisfied, the peer is selected by the company exhibiting the closest EBITDA-margin to the PE-backed company. Hence, the total data set consists of 112 PE-backed companies and 112 peers – in total 224 companies.

#### **Dependent variables**

In order to analyse whether the effects of PE investments persist over time, the change in operating performance over the post exit period ( $\Delta Perf$ ) is examined. Specifically, the change in operating performance between 0, 1, 2 and 3 years post the divestment year and the year prior to the divestment year are analysed for every company observation (Equation 1):

(1) 
$$\Delta Perf = Perf_{i,t} - Perf_j$$

where operating performance is signified *Perf* and *i* signifies specific companies (i = 1,2,...,112), *t* represents the time frame between the year prior to the divestment year and the three years post the divestment year used in the analysis (t = 0,1,2,3). The fiscal year prior to the divestment year is signified by *j*. In order to examine the post exit performance for the PE-backed companies relative to the non PE-backed peers the operating performance metric of the PE-backed company is adjusted by the performance metric exhibited by the matched firm (Equation 2):

(2) 
$$\Delta AdjPerf = (Perf_{i,t} - Perf_j) - (Perf_{m,t} - Perf_{m,j})$$

Where *i* signifies the PE-backed firm (i = 1, 2..., 112), *m* signifies the matched firm (m = 1, 2..., 112) and the other variables are defined analogously with Equation 1.

As an accounting metric used as a proxy of operating performance, return on assets is adopted (henceforth ROA<sup>2</sup>). This is in accordance with prior studies targeting similar purposes of study (e.g. Kaplan, 1989; Jain and Kini, 1995; Meles et al., 2014). ROA effectively measures the company's ability to return a profit relative to its asset base and thus constitute a solid metric when measuring a company's operating performance since it considers the efficiency of the organisation in terms of its capital usage. In addition, the simplicity of the metric enables a calculation with few adjustments of the accounting data, conversely to other commonly used operating metrics, making it a prevailing metric when dealing with large quantities of data and an unfeasibility to calculate metrics for all the observations manually. ROA is calculated by divide EBIT with total assets. The conventionally adopted method when calculating ROA is by using the average of the asset base for the investigated year and EBIT for the investigated year. However, in order to be consistent with prior studies (e.g. Kaplan, 1989) the asset base at closing balance for the investigated year have been chosen.

As robustness tests, two operating metrics have been chosen as proxies for operating performance; change in EBITDA and change in EBITDA-margin. In the study by Meles et al. (2014), only one robustness test metric is used – change in EBITDA. In order to build on the aforementioned study, an additional metric has thus been included in the analysis. The main reason why EBITDA-margin has been included is that growth in EBITDA alone could be a consequence of M&A activities and not through organic growth. Therefore, when comparing companies with different strategies in terms of growth, the results could be severely distorted, which is also furthered by e.g. Kaplan (1989). This is of special importance when dealing with non-pro-forma earnings data, which is the case with this thesis<sup>3</sup>. Hence, EBITDA-margin constitutes a solid complementary metric to changes in EBITDA for the robustness test as any acquired growth also will affect the denominator. Changes in EBITDA will henceforth be signified by  $\Delta Perf_2$  and  $\Delta AdjPerf_2$ , and changes in EBITDA-

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  Recognising several other operating accounting metrics commonly used as proxies for operating efficiency – e.g. return on invested capital (ROIC) and return on capital employed (ROCE) – the adoption of ROA is justified based on the widespread usage of ROA in the academic literature.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Pro-forma means when companies have adjusted their earnings for extraordinary items or M&A transactions to make earnings more comparable between time periods. Unfortunately it is not possible to acquire pro-forma earnings data for unlisted companies through annual reports from Retriever.

margin will henceforth be signified by  $\Delta Perf_3$  and  $\Delta AdjPerf_3$ . Changes in ROA will henceforth be signified by  $\Delta Perf_1$  and  $\Delta AdjPerf_1$ .

#### **Independent variables**

In order to be able to test for the research hypotheses, dummy variables are used for the independent variables, in accordance with several other studies (e.g. Levis, 2011; Meles, et al., 2014). To test for the first hypothesis (H<sub>1</sub>), the PE-backed (PE) companies are signified by 1 and the non PE-backed is set at 0. Recognising the first hypothesis, this variable is expected to be positive.

According to the hypotheses, other variables are expected to have an effect on PE post exit performance. The second and third hypothesis stipulates that whether the PE-investor is targeting VC or BO will influence the post exit performance. Hence, two dummy variables are used to test for this – VC-backed (VC) firms are signified 1 and non VC-backed firms are denoted 0, BO-backed (BO) firms are signified 1 and non BO-backed firms are denoted 0. According to  $H_2$  and  $H_3$ , both the VC variable and the BO variable are expected to be positive.

In contrast to previous studies, the differences in performance between first time BObacked firms and BO-backed firms that have been owned by BO-investors previously are examined by adding one independent variable with regards to BO-investments (H<sub>4</sub>). A first time BO (FTBO) will be signified 1 and secondary or third BO will be signified 0. The FTBO variable is expected to be positive according to H<sub>4</sub>, based on the findings from Bonini (2013).

Lastly, it is expected to be variations in the post exit performances depending on the exit route the company has targeted ( $H_5$ ), in accordance with other studies (e.g. Meles et al., 2014). Hence, three dummy variables are used to test for all of the exit routes – IPO (IPO) is signified by 1 and 0 otherwise, sale to strategic buyer (SSB) is signified by 1 and 0 otherwise, sale to financial buyer (SFB) is signified by 1 and 0 otherwise.

In addition, since there are numerous other factors likely to affect companies' operating performance, several control variables are included that are commonly used in the literature (e.g. Berger and Ofek, 1995; Dushnitsky and Lenox, 2006; Meles et al., 2014). The control variables are the following: i) company size calculated as the natural logarithm of the firms total assets (TA); ii) the company's capital ratio defined

as book value of equity divided by total assets (CR); iii) the company's productivity defined as labour productivity, measured as the natural logarithm of sales divided by number of employees (LP), and capital productivity, measured as the natural logarithm of sales divided by fixed assets (CP); iv) lastly, macroeconomic and industry factors are controlled for by adding national GDP growth between two sequential years (GDP) and a sector dummy variable that controls for variations between different sectors.

#### **Empirical model**

In accordance with influential papers in this purpose of study (e.g. Jain and Kini, 1995; Meles et al., 2014), a linear regression model is employed in order to test the research hypotheses. Ordinary least square regression (OLS) are used in order to construct a function where firm operating performance is explained by the various independent variables (Equation 3). The equation is formulated as follows:

(3) 
$$\Delta Perf_{i,t} = \alpha + \beta_1 PE_i + \delta X_{i,t} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$

where specific firms are signified by i (i = 1, 2, ..., 112) and years post the divestment year is signified by t (t = 0, 1, 2, 3). PE represents a dummy variable which controls for PE-backing, control variables are signified by X and the random error for the function is signified by  $\varepsilon$ .

Equation 3 is used as basis for the regression analysis. The PE variable can be replaced by other variables that may explain the post exit operating performance. These tested variables have already been further elaborated in the previous section and an additional model which tests for these variables (Equation 4) can be presented as follows:

(4) 
$$\Delta AdjPerf_{i,t} = \alpha + \beta_1 VC_i + \beta_2 FTBO_i + \beta_3 IPO_i + \beta_4 SSB_i + \beta_5 SFB_i + \delta X_{i,t} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$

The variables in Equation 4 that have not already been explained above are further described in Table 1. The additional model is a differences-in-differences model (Equation 4) and is included in order to provide further results to support the conclusions. In addition, the fact that it has already been adjusted for the operating performance of the matched firm enables more accurate analysis on some of the independent variables as well as reduce time distorting effects on the analyses. Both

regression models are unbalanced panel data regression models, which are used to provide with more degrees of freedom and to reduce the co-linearity among the explanatory variables.

Furthermore, Breusch-Pagan tests are conducted to test if the variables in either model suffers from heteroscedasticity. The test indicated that both models suffered from heteroscedasticity. Due to precautionary reasons, all the regression analyses are therefore run with robust standard errors. The regression analyses are run through Stata.

In addition to the OLS regression analyses, univariate analyses are also conducted in MS Excel as a preliminary analysis. The OLS regression analyses are employed in order to examine whether the results from the univariate analyses holds when controlling for other variables that might impact the operating performance of the selected firms. Hence, the results from the OLS regression models are more important and thus the conclusions from this study are to a higher degree based on these results.

Furthermore, in order to check if the variables have high correlation that potentially could distort the results, a correlation matrix analysis in Stata are conducted for the variables in Table 4 and 5. The output from these tests can be viewed in Table 6 and 7.

Table 1. Description of va	riables	
Variables	Symbol	Description
Operating performance 1	∆Perfl	The difference between ROA over the post-exit period and ROA of the year before the divestment <sup>a</sup>
Operating performance 2	$\Delta Perf2$	The difference between EBITDA over the post-exit period and EBITDA of the year before the divestment <sup>a</sup>
Operating performance 3	∆Perf3	The difference between EBITDA-margin over the post-exit period and EBITDA-margin of the year before the divestment <sup>a</sup>
Adjusted operating performance 1	∆AdjPerfl	The difference between the $\Delta Perfl$ of each PE-backed company with that of its matched company <sup>a</sup>
Adjusted operating performance 2	∆AdjPerf2	The difference between the $\Delta Perf2$ of each PE-backed company with that of its matched company <sup>a</sup>
Adjusted operating performance 3	∆AdjPerf3	The difference between the $\Delta Perf3$ of each PE-backed company with that of its matched company <sup>a</sup>
PE backing	PE	Dummy variable which is set at 1 when companies are backed by a PE investor and 0 otherwise <sup>b</sup>
VC backing	VC	Dummy variable which is set at 1 when companies are backed by a VC investor and 0 otherwise <sup>b</sup>
BO backing	ВО	Dummy variable which is set at 1 when companies are backed by a BO investor and 0 otherwise <sup>b</sup>
First time BO	FTBO	Dummy variable which is set at 1 when companies are first time BOs and 0 otherwise <sup>b</sup>
Initial public offering	IPO	Dummy variable which is set at 1 when PE investors' exit through an IPO and 0 otherwise <sup>b</sup>
Sale to strategic buyer	SSB	Dummy variable which is set at 1 when PE investors' exit through a sale to strategic buyer and 0 otherwise <sup>b</sup>
Sale to financial buyer	SFB	Dummy variable which is set at 1 when PE investors' exit through a sale to financial buyer and 0 otherwise <sup>b</sup>
Size	TA	Natural logarithm of the total asset <sup>a</sup>
Capital ratio	CR	The book value of total equity divided by total assets <sup>a</sup>
Labour productivity	LP	Natural logarithm of the sales divided by number of employees <sup>a</sup>
Capital productivity	CP	Natural logarithm of the sales divided by fixed assets <sup>a</sup>
Regional GDP growth rate	GDP	The national GDP growth rate between two consecutive years <sup>c</sup>
Industry	Industry	Dummy variables each equal to 1 if the company operates in the corresponding sector and zero otherwise <sup>b</sup>
Sources: a) Retriever and co	mpany annua	I reports b) Capital IQ and PE-investors' websites c) SCB

# **Results and analysis**

### **Sample statistics**

As depicted in Table 2a, the industries that are most frequent in the data set comprises Industrials, Information Technology, Consumer Discretionary and Healthcare. Relatively few companies are found in the sectors of Materials and Consumer Staples. As expected, BO-investors are weighted towards mature industries such as Consumers and Industrials and VC-investors are weighted towards fast-growing sectors such as Information Technology. The CIQ-industry set also contains Financial Services, Utilities, Energy and Telecommunication Services. However, no company in the dataset were found in these sectors. The three first sectors were expected to show low frequency in the data set as they are unpopular industries by PE-investors due to either: i) unfeasibility to adopt the BO-model with high leverage; ii) marginal growth opportunities in the sector; iii) the companies in the sector are often too big to invest in; iv) the companies are too dependent on exogenous factors in order to succeed. Telecommunication Services are more surprisingly to be absent in the data set and could potentially be explained by a narrow listing by CIQ for the sector – only 181 companies are currently registered in this sector in Sweden.

As depicted in Table 2b, exit routes varies profoundly depending on different investment phases within PE. VC-backed firms demonstrate a bias towards sale to strategic buyer versus BO-backed firms that are relatively more prone to exit via financial buyer or through an IPO. Obviously, this bias have an impact on the result when testing for  $H_5$ , which will be discussed further in the following sections.

	•					
Sactor	PE-backe	ed firms	VC-backed	l firms	BO-backed	l firms
Sector	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%
Consumer Discretionary	20	17.9	2	1.8	18	16.1
Consumer Staples	7	6.3	1	0.9	6	5.4
Healthcare	16	14.3	8	7.1	8	7.1
Industrials	36	32.1	6	5.4	30	26.8
Information Technology	25	22.3	20	17.9	5	4.5
Materials	8	7.1	2	1.8	6	5.4

Table 2a. Sample distribution by sec	Table	2a.	Sample	distribution	bv	secto
--------------------------------------	-------	-----	--------	--------------	----	-------

Notes: This table presents the distribution of the data set between sectors according to Capital IQ

	IDO	SED	CCD	Tot	al
	IFO	<b>5</b> FD	<b>33D</b>	Number	%
VC-backed firms	0	5	34	39	34.8
BO-backed firms	11	23	39	73	65.2
-of which are FTBO	9	18	30	57	50.9

#### Table 2b. Sample distribution by exit route

Notes: This table presents the distribution of the data set between exit routes

### **Univariate analysis**

Table 3 depicts the univariate analysis for the data set. As expected, the PE-backed versus non PE-backed companies exhibit few statistically significant differences preexit since they were selected as matching firms, confirming that the comparable firm approach adopted by Tian (2012), is working in accordance to plan (Panel A). However, capital productivity is significantly lower for PE-backed firms and VCbacked firms versus non PE-backed and VC-matched firms respectively. This could potentially be explained by the lower amount of capital utilized by the non PE-backed firms in the dataset – also statistically significant. As expected, there are statistically significant differences between VC-backed and BO-backed firms in almost every variable, reflecting the differences in firm characteristics with respect to size, profitability, solvency and capital efficiency between VC-backed and BO-backed firms. VC-backed firms exhibiting higher efficiency measures might seem surprising at a first glance, however this could merely reflect the bias towards different sectors for VC-backed and BO-backed firms respectively. BO-backed firms exhibit a bias towards capital intense industries such as Industrials and Materials. Conversely, VCbacked firms exhibit a bias towards capital light industries such as IT.

In Panel B, the post exit period performance is analysed. The groups PE-backed firms and VC-backed firms exhibit statistically significant improvement in all operating measures, while BO-backed firms only exhibit statistically significant improvements in  $\Delta Perf2$  relative to the matched firms. Differences in post exit operating performance between BO-backed firms and VC-backed firms are also statistically significant.

Table 3. Descriptive s	sample statistic	S								
	PE-backed	Non PE-backed		VC-backed	VC-matched		<b>BO-backed</b>	<b>BO-matched</b>		(3) (5)
	firms (1)	firms (2)	(1) - (2)	firms (3)	firms (4)	(3) - (4)	firms (5)	firms (6)	(0) - (C)	(c) - (c)
Panel A – Firm charac	cteristics (pre-	exit year)								
TA (SEK mln)	661.0	545.6	115.4*	98.2	94.2	4.0	961.7	786.8	174.9*	-863.5***
CR (per cent)	39.4	37.1	2.4	37.7	26.9	10.8	40.4	42.5	-2.1	-2.7
CP (per cent)	0.9	2.5	-1.6*	2.2	6.4	-4.1**	0.1	0.4	-0.3	2.1***
LP (per cent)	29.9	32.1	-2.2	59.8	59.1	0.7	13.9	17.7	-3.8	45.9***
ROA (per cent)	1.3	3.5	-2.2	-7.5	-2.7	-4.9	6.0	6.8	-0.8	-13.6***
EBITDA (SEK mln)	69.5	56.0	13.6	4.6	7.6	-3.0	104.2	81.8	22.4	-99.7***
EBITDA-margin (per	2.3	4.3	-2.0	-8.7	-7.2	-1.6	8.2	10.4	-2.3	-16.9***
cent)										
Panel B – Firm chang	e in performan	ce (post-exit peri	iod)							
$\Delta Perfl$ (per cent)	5.4	-0.4	5.8***	13.7	-4.8	18.6***	1.0	1.9	-1.0	12.8***
$\Delta Perf2$ (SEK mln)	34.4	13.9	20.5***	10.7	-1.1	$11.8^{***}$	47.0	21.9	25.1**	-36.3***
$\Delta Perf3$ (per cent)	5.2	-0.8	6.0**	10.6	-4.1	14.7***	2.3	1.0	1.3	8.3
Adj∆Perf1 (per cent)	5.8	ı	ı	18.6	·	I	-1.0	I	ı	19.5***
Adj∆Perf2 (SEK mhn)	20.5	ı	ı	11.8	ı	I	25.1	I	ı	-13.3
Adj∆Perf3 (per cent)	6.0	ı	ı	14.7	·	I	1.3	I	ı	13.4**
Notes: This table preser (Panel C). Panel A repc described in Table 1 Th	its the means for orts average valu- he test for mean	the variables relat tes based on the ye difference is a star	ing to some ear before the and t-test	firm characteris ne divestment, w allowing for une	stics (Panel A) <i>e</i> hile Panel C rep	und firm cha ports averag * ** and *	nge in operating ge values over th ** indicate stati	performance ove le post exit perioc stical significance	er the post-6 d. The varia	exit period bles are
levels, respectively.										

Table 3. De minti nle statistic

### Hypothesis results and analysis

From the findings in both Table 3 and Table 4, it can be concluded that PE-backed firms exhibit statistically significant improvement in operating performance over the post exit period for  $\Delta Perf1$ , relative to its' matched firms. Both the univariate analysis in Table 3 and the OLS regression analysis in Table 4 (Equation 3) exhibit statistical significance at 1% and 10% level respectively. Several control variables also show statistical significance with the model in Table 4. Since there are differences in the dependent variable between VC-backed firms and BO-backed firms, this would also be reflected in the control variables. VC-backed firms clearly exhibit higher profitability gains over the post exit period relative to BO-backed firms, which for example explains why TA show statistically negative significance with  $\Delta Perf1$ . When excluding the independent variable PE, the test model's explanatory power, measured as Adj.  $R^2$ , is lower than when adding the PE variable, which also is the case when testing for the other variables and thus confirms the models robustness. This also confirms the conclusion that the PE-backing variable indeed adds explanatory power when testing for the post exit performance, measured as  $\Delta Perf1$ . This enables the rejection of the null hypothesis and to be able conclude that PE-backed firms exhibit higher operating performance post exit measured as  $\Delta Perf1$  (H<sub>1</sub>). In addition,  $\Delta Perf3$ also show statistically significant improvement over the post exit period, which supports the conclusion that the PE-backed firms outperform their matched firms post exit. Hence, it can be concluded that the results are expected, according to  $H_1$  and in line with the findings of previous research.

From the findings in Table 3 and Table 4, it can also be concluded that VC-backed firms exhibit statistically significant improvements in operating performance over the post exit period relative to its' matched firms, measured as  $\Delta Perf1$ . Both the univariate analysis in Table 3 and the OLS regression analysis in Table 4 exhibit statistical significance at 1% and 5% levels respectively. In addition, the second model, ( $Adj\Delta Perf$ ), also exhibits improvements in operating performance post exit for VC-backed firms relative to BO-backed firms at 10% statistical significance level. Furthermore, the robustness tests  $\Delta Perf2$  and  $\Delta Perf3$  in Table 4 and  $Adj\Delta Perf2$  in Table 5, exhibit statistical significant improvements in operating performance over the post exit period at 1%, 10% and 1% levels respectively. Hence, the null hypothesis can be rejected and it can be concluded that VC-backed firms exhibit larger profitability gains over the post exit period relative to the matched firms, as H<sub>2</sub> states. It can be concluded that the results are expected according to  $H_2$  and in line with the findings from previous research.

Converse with the results when examining the VC variable, Table 4 shows that BObacked firms do not exhibit statistically significant improvements in operating performance over the post exit period relative to its' matched firms. Important to note is also the fact that neither operating performance measure ( $\Delta Perf1$ ,  $\Delta Perf2$  and  $\Delta Perf3$ ) show statistically significant improvements in operating performance, which ensures us that the results are homogenous and converse with the results from testing the PE and the VC variable. Although  $\Delta Perf2$  in the univariate analysis exhibit statistically significant higher EBITDA in the post exit period, the results from Table 4 are more important since it controls for the other independent variables. Hence, the null hypothesis cannot be rejected and it cannot be concluded that BO-backed firms exhibit higher profitability over the post exit period than its' matched firms, as H<sub>3</sub> states. The results are contrary to expectations, according to H<sub>3</sub>.

As mentioned in the hypothesis section, one variable were added in an attempt to shed some additional light in the context of BO-backed firms post exit operating performance. However, testing for the FTBO-variable, it can be concluded from Table 4 and Table 5 that this group does not exhibit statistically significant improvements in operating performance over the post exit period, relative to secondary or third time BO. Analogous with the results from testing for the BOvariable, the results are homogenous across all operating performance measures in Table 4 as well as in Table 5. Although, important to note is that the coefficients are positive for almost all the tests in both regression models. In addition, the  $Adj\Delta Perf1$ and the  $Adj\Delta Perf3$  variable exhibits quite high t-values, and thus nearly confirms that FTBO exhibit higher profitability gain over the post exit period relative to secondary and third BOs. Important to note is that the performance of matched firms are considered in Table 5 but not in Table 4. Nevertheless, as the results from Table 4 and Table 5 are somewhat inconclusive and not statistically significant,  $H_4$  cannot be confirmed. Hence the null hypothesis cannot be rejected and it is therefore not possible to conclude that first time BO-backed firms exhibit higher profitability over the post exit period than secondary and third BOs. Although, the findings suggests that this indeed would constitute a promising and interesting area for future studies.

When testing for the last hypothesis (H<sub>5</sub>), the results are depicted in Table 4 and Table 5. As can be seen in the output tables, the results are inconclusive and requires some elaboration; In Table 4, the results are derived from differences in operating performance of only PE-backed firms while Table 5 adjusts for the difference between PE and non PE-backed firms as well. Hence, when testing for the second model ( $Adj\Delta Perf$ ) with regards to different exit routes, the model considers the differences in operating performance between the PE-backed firms and the matched firms. This could not be done in the first model ( $\Delta Perf$ ) since it simply was not possible to include the matched firms as single observations. For this reason the second model is assigned greater importance as it adjusts for the operating performance changes exhibited by the matched firms as well. In Table 5 it cannot be concluded that there are statistically significant differences in changes in operating performance measures between firms exhibiting different exit routes measured as  $Adj\Delta Perf1$ . However, as there are statistically significant differences in  $Adj\Delta Perf2$ (and  $\Delta Perf2$  for the first model), this is deemed to be specifically important to address; since there is a strong bias towards VC-backed firms in the group SSB, the firms included here tend to be smaller and thus are less likely to exhibit large gains in EBITDA over the post exit period relative to BO-backed firms. Hence, it is somewhat expected that this group exhibit less changes in EBITDA, as also is stated in the output of Table 5. Ideally, for this type of test you would ultimately want to examine the different exit routes for every subgroup of PE (VC and BO respectively). However, this was not feasible as the data set was too small. However, an important and interesting finding in Table 5 is that IPO firms exhibit statistically significant lower profitability over the post exit period, measured as  $Adj\Delta Perf3$ . This is also confirmed by the findings from Table 4 ( $\Delta Perf3$ ). Even though these results are statistically significant, it would be inappropriate to conclude that IPO firms perform worse during the post exit period, based on at least three reasons: i) since the data set is constrained to only comprise 11 IPO firms there is an underlying lack of robustness in the test; ii) the test results are inconclusive from the different operating measures; iii) as mentioned previously, there are large differences between VC-backed and BObacked firms that are insufficiently accounted for in the test. To conclude, based on these findings, the null hypothesis cannot be rejected stating that there are no differences between firms in terms of operating performance improvement over the post exit period. Also important to note is that this test only test two exit routes (IPO

and SSB) against a third exit route (SFB). However, testing has also been conducted for every exit route as a reference group and it can be concluded that the findings from this analysis confirms the conclusions already stated above.

Table 6 and 7 show correlation matrixes between the independent variables in Table 4 and 5. None of the correlations exceed a value of 0.6, why it is deemed that none of the variables distort the results from the regression analyses.

In addition to testing all years simultaneously in the regression analyses, single years have been tested to provide with further results from the data set<sup>4</sup>. At large, the results further support the conclusions already stated. However, an interesting finding is that year 1 and especially year 2 post exit indicate strong profitability increase, measured as ROA, relative to the matched firms, but with a stagnating effect three years post exit. This is the case both from the univariate and the regression analyses. One reason for why this might be the case could be that a large amount of the firm sample were divested in the year of 2006. In 2009 – three years post 2006 – the effects from the turmoil following the financial crisis had major implications on firm operating performance, especially for PE-backed firms. This could indeed be a plausible explanation of the general decline in firm operating performance three years post exit. It could also be argued that this finding could be seen as an argument for the short term value added hypothesis, since there is a decline in operating performance in the third year post exit. If the data set would have contained more years, it would have been feasible to make more firm conclusions regarding this finding.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Since four different years were tested, four additional sets of tables could have been included in the result section. However, since the results largely confirm the conclusions from the test involving all years, this have only been described in the text.

Notes: Pane	$\operatorname{Prob} > F$	Adj R²	Ν		Intercept	Industry		GDP		СР		LP		CR		TA		SSB		IPO		FTBO		ВО		VC		PE				Table 4. Ro
l regression ar	0.000	0.204	896	(1.62)	0.181	yes	(0.47)	0.113	(-2.45)	-2.444**	(2.61)	$0.111^{***}$	(-0.18)	-0.007	(-1.76)	-0.014*											(1.70)	0.030*	∆Perf1	(1)		esults from C
alysis of char	0.000	0.246	312	(0.65)	0.173	yes	(-0.21)	-0.121	(-2.31)	-2.429**	(2.06)	0.115**	(0.02)	0.001	(-0.56)	-0.013									(1.99)	0.089 * *			∆Perf1	(2)		LS regressi
nge in operatir	0.000	0.062	584	(0.01)	0.000	yes	(1.73)	0.276*	(2.82)	2.498***	(2.89)	0.082***	(-2.28)	-0.063**	(0.07)	0.000							(-0.23)	-0.003					∆Perfl	(3)	Δ in ROA	ons starting
ng performanc	0.004	0.056	292	(-2.28)	-0.216**	yes	(2.24)	0.442**	(2.06)	10.968**	(-0.17)	-0.008	(-2.23)	-0.075**	(2.46)	$0.016^{**}$					(1.24)	0.021							∆Perfl	(4)		from equatic
e of a sample	0.012	0.083	448	(1.73)	0.246*	yes	(0.60)	0.183	(-0.15)	-0.077	(-0.21)	-0.005	(-1.23)	-0.061	(-1.32)	-0.013	(1.23)	0.024	(0.78)	0.025									∆Perfl	(5)		)n 3
of 112 Swedish	0.000	0.098	968	(-5.09)	-286.119***	yes	(1.82)	192.145*	(3.96)	116.717***	(3.23)	16.883***	(-0.70)	-7.729	(5.23)	24.109***											(1.17)	8.512	$\Delta Perf2$	(6)		
PE-backed a	0.020	0.056	312	(-0.12)	-3.508	yes	(-0.34)	-15.611	(-0.26)	-3.463	(-0.31)	-0.799	(0.18)	0.750	(0.14)	0.354									(2.95)	11.481***			$\Delta Perf2$	(7)		
nd 112 non-PE-t	0.000	0.113	584	(-6.97)	-457.535***	yes	(2.21)	328.151**	(1.38)	1 134.694	(2.20)	58.455**	(0.22)	5.811	(7.45)	36.933***							(0.29)	3.371					$\Delta Perf2$	(8)	Δ in EBITDA	
backed firms is re	0.000	0.140	292	(-6.05)	-689.671***	yes	(0.80)	191.023	(0.69)	4399.775	(0.40)	22.862	(1.46)	59.064	(6.84)	55.271***					(-0.24)	-5.736							$\Delta Perf2$	(9)		
ported. The va	0.000	0.157	448	(-4.68)	-342.217	yes	(0.50)	85.697	(1.11)	121.963	(3.84)	31.434***	(-0.26)	-3.908	(5.36)	33.970***	(-4.02)	-58.983***	(-0.39)	-16.887									$\Delta Perf2$	(10)		
uriables IPO a	0.001	0.043	968	(-1.12)	-0.146	yes	(0.10)	0.027	(-2.44)	-0.531**	(3.17)	$0.108^{***}$	(-0.10)	-0.005	(1.58)	0.018											(1.66)	0.043*	∆Perf3	(11)		
nd SSB are te	0.001	0.070	312	(-1.01)	-0.375	yes	(-0.94)	-0.624	(-0.96)	-0.288	(2.22)	0.099**	(-0.43)	-0.035	(1.23)	0.043									(1.91)	0.124*			∆Perf3	(12)	Δin	
sted against S	0.000	0.074	584	(-3.22)	-0.297	yes	(1.80)	0.376*	(0.61)	0.706	(5.42)	0.202***	(-1.88)	-0.068*	(3.57)	0.024***							(0.20)	0.003					∆Perf3	(13)	EBITDA-ma	
FB, why this	0.000	0.120	292	(-2.22)	-0.417**	yes	(1.12)	0.439	(-1.72)	-18.158*	(4.03)	0.380***	(-1.44)	-0.096	(2.56)	0.034**					(0.71)	0.038							∆Perf3	(14)	rgin	
variable is	0.005	0.081	448	(-1.11)	-0.307	yes	(0.26)	0.105	(-0.99)	-1.415	(3.36)	0.149***	(0.05)	0.003	(1.84)	0.043*	(-0.80)	-0.030	(-1.94)	-0.105*									$\Delta Perf3$	(15)		

not included in the test. The variables are described in Table 1. \*, \*\* and \*\*\* indicate statistical significance at 10%, 5% and 1% levels, respectively.

35

var	bac	
iable	ked	
es ar	fim	
e de	si sr	
scri	rep	
bed	orte	
in T	d. T	
able	he v	
÷.	aria	
	bles	
	IPC	
	and	
	SSF	
	Ъa	
	re te	
	estec	
	1 ag	
	ainst	
	SF	
	B, v	
	vhy 1	
	this	
	varia	
	ıble	
	is no	
	ot in	
	clud	
	ed	

\*, \*\* and \*\*\* indicate statistical significance at 10%, 5% and 1% levels, respectively.

Table 5. R	esults from	<b>OLS</b> regress	ions starting	; from equatio	n4				
	1	Adj.∆ in ROA		Ad	j.∆ in EBITE	λ	Adj.∆	in EBITDA-n	nargin
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
	Adj∆Perf1	Adj∆Perfl	Adj∆Perfl	Adj∆Perf2	Adj∆Perf2	Adj∆Perf2	Adj∆Perf3	Adj∆Perf3	Adj∆Perf3
VC	0.121*			41.099***			0.026		
	(1.89)			(2.79)			(0.37)		
FTBO		0.043			21.766			0.100	
		(1.63)			(0.79)			(1.52)	
IPO			-0.012			17.402			-0.152**
			(-0.21)			(0.37)			(-2.32)
SSB			0.040			-39.088**			-0.002
			(1.30)			(-2.43)			(-0.05)
TA	0.012	-0.013	0.001	28.915***	29.669***	21.156***	0.057***	0.036***	0.064 **
	(0.58)	(-1.17)	(0.07)	(3.71)	(3.14)	(3.22)	(2.82)	(2.59)	(2.52)
CR	0.117	-0.127***	0.139	15.326	-31.599	11.178	0.203*	-0.230**	0.239**
	(1.15)	(-2.94)	(1.29)	(0.98)	(-0.84)	(0.70)	(1.76)	(-2.55)	(2.02)
LP	0.011	0.071	0.041	9.862	56.951	21.846***	0.173***	0.238***	0.183***
	(0.17)	(1.59)	(0.74)	(1.13)	(1.45)	(2.93)	(2.84)	(2.75)	(3.20)
CP	0.436	2.718**	0.622	24.343	1567.832	108.052	1.311	0.726	1.364
	(0.38)	(2.25)	(0.57)	(0.25)	(1.48)	(1.11)	(0.44)	(0.47)	(0.46)
GDP	0.342	0.254	0.314	- 192.845	-407.810	-210.734	0.263	0.147	0.268
	(0.69)	(0.82)	(0.63)	(-1.00)	(-1.51)	(-1.10)	(0.50)	(0.37)	(0.52)
Industry	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Ν	448	292	448	448	292	448	448	292	448
Intecept	-0.172	-0.034	-0.072	-344.668***	-2.798	-199.034***	-0.631**	-0.084	-0.739**
	(-0.62)	(-0.67)	(-0.27)	(-3.48)	(-0.06)	(-2.61)	(-2.37)	(-1.29)	(-2.33)
Adj R²	0.071	0.138	0.067	0.064	0.016	0.074	0.089	0.187	0.095
Prob > F	0.001	0.000	0.003	0.002	0.004	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.000
Notes: Pane	l regression a	analysis of cha	ınge in operati	ing performanc	e of a sample	of 112 Swedi	sh PE-backed	and 112 non	-PE-
backed firm	s is reported.	. The variables	s IPO and SS	B are tested ag	ainst SFB, w	hy this variable	is not include	d in the test.	The
	nontodar er er	. THE VALIAULE		D are instructing	allist of D, W	The management of the second s		u III ule lest.	

Table 6. Correlation matrix between variables used in Table 4

Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1 PE	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
2 BO	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
3 VC	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
4 IPO	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
5 SFB	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
6 SSB	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
7 FTBO	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
8 TA	0.169	0.591	-0.591	0.297	0.100	-0.277	0.225	-	-	-	-
9 CR	0.041	0.150	-0.150	0.167	-0.026	-0.080	-0.042	0.282			
10 LP	-0.026	-0.475	0.475	-0.157	-0.088	0.179	-0.136	-0.561	-0.196		
11 CP	-0.123	-0.294	0.294	-0.070	-0.085	0.121	-0.102	-0.415	-0.157	0.328	
12 GDP	0.000	0.033	-0.033	-0.007	0.016	-0.010	0.093	-0.015	-0.045	0.008	-0.014

Notes: This table shows Pearson pairs-wise correlation matrix. Bold texts indicate statistically significant at 1% level or more.

Table 7. Correlation matrix between variables used in Table 5

Va	ariables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1	VC									
2	FTBO	-								
3	SSB	-	-							
4	SFB	-	-	-						
5	IPO	-	-	-	-					
6	TA	-0.568	-0.020	-0.313	0.108	0.343				
7	CR	-0.043	0.031	-0.116	-0.025	0.223	0.196			
8	LP	0.485	0.180	0.172	-0.074	-0.168	-0.490	-0.095		
9	СР	0.378	0.133	0.166	-0.114	-0.100	-0.372	-0.156	0.232	
10	GDP	-0.033	0.043	-0.010	0.016	-0.007	-0.019	-0.060	0.014	-0.015

Notes: This table shows Pearson pairs-wise correlation matrix. Bold texts indicate statistically significant at 1% level or more.

### Conclusions

In this study the post exit operating performance of Swedish PE-backed firms is examined in relation to the operating performance for a sample of matched firms in the period between 2004 and 2009. The aim is to assess whether the effects of PEbacking persist over time. In order to investigate the post exit performance, the change in some specific profitability metrics over 3 years post exit are measured, including the exit year. The data set consists of 112 PE-backed firms along with an equal amount of matched firms in other ownership forms. VC-backed and BO-backed firms are tested specifically as well as potential differences in performance with regards to different exit routes. This paper builds on previous studies by addressing a new geography as well as adding one profitability metric that further explains the post exit operating performance. In addition, in order to be able to delve more deeply into the post exit operating performance of BO-backed firms in particular, one variable that potentially could explain the lack of superior post exit operating performance exhibited by BO-backed firms in previous studies have been added. This variable takes into account whether the BO-backed firm has been owned previously by a PEinvestor or not.

The empirical results show that PE-backed firms exhibit superior performance post exit relative to their matched firms, which to a large extent is driven by the superior performance of the VC-backed firms. The conclusions from both the univariate analysis and when controlling for other determinants of post exit performance are homogenous and in line with previous research (Meles et al., 2014). VC-backed firms exhibit outstanding profitability gains over the post exit period, which should really be further recognised. The findings support the long term value added hypothesis of VC-backed firms. One additional comprehensive explanation as to why VC-backed firms exhibit such superior performance could potentially be that VC-backed firms that are able to exit by definition are successful firms and thus are not surprising to exhibit superior operating performance. Since there are a lot of firms in a VCportfolio that are not able to exit, the testing of firms that only are exited ultimately leads to a bias of successful and superior firms, or more importantly, that have very high probability of being profitable in the years to come. In the light of this setting it is perhaps not surprising that VC-backed firms exhibit superior operating performance in relative to the matched firms during the post exit period. Although

38

important to note is that this does not however alter the conclusion that VC-investors indeed creates long term value in their portfolio companies that also seem to persist over time.

Converse to the findings of VC-backed firms are the findings from BO-backed firms that could be concluded not to exhibit higher profitability gains over the post exit period relative to their matched firms. The results are in line with previous findings. Despondently, the additional variable added in an attempt to explain the post exit performance of BO-backed firms a bit further did not provide any further information. Contrary to expectations, no superior post exit performance could be exhibited by initial BO-backed firms relative to firms that had been owned by BO-investors previously. Although, the coefficients were positive for almost all the metrics as well as exhibiting high t-values (although not statistically significant at 10% level), which makes this an interesting area for future studies – potentially comprising a larger data set.

No firm conclusions could be made with regards to whether post exit performances were different between firms with different exit routes. IPO firms exhibited a decline in operating performance but since the results were not uniform across the different operating metrics and the data set was too small, it have been decided not to form any firm and general conclusions regarding IPO firms specifically merely based on these findings. An interesting topic for future studies might be to gather a data set large enough to test the post exit operating performance for the subgroups of PE (VC and BO respectively). This would be more appropriate since the subgroups exhibited different bias for different exit routes and hence would certainly yield more interesting results.

Another reflection concerning the test results is that the added independent variables,  $(\Delta Perf3^5 \text{ and } Adj\Delta Perf3^6)$ , indeed were an important contribution to the analyses. As was explained in the previous section, differences between firm sizes had distorting implications for the results of the independent variable  $\Delta Perf2^7$ . Hence,  $\Delta Perf3$  and  $Adj\Delta Perf3$  constituted important robustness tests in the models.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Change in EBITDA margin over the post exit period

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Change in EBITDA margin over the post exit period subtracted for the change by the matched firm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Change in EBITDA over the post exit period

The conclusions in this study has implications for entrepreneurs as well as investors in PE-backed firms as it could constitute a contributing factor to solve for moral hazard problem arising from PE-investors decision to exit their investment. Since the PE-backed firms exhibited higher profitability during the post exit period, both the entrepreneur and the new investor could rely on the fact that PE-investors do not compromise on the company's long term operating performance when exiting their investments. Needless to say, since only VC-backed firms exhibited higher profitability over the post exit period one could argue that this conclusion largely depends on the composition of the sample between VC- and BO-backed firms. However, the fact that the matched firms did not exhibit higher profitability gains relative to BO-backed firms could be argued as being a testimony against the short term value added hypothesis in BO-backed firms, which also is an important conclusion.

The fact that BO-backed firms did not demonstrate superior post exit operating performance relative to the matched firms was also unexpected given the earlier discourse regarding superior returns demonstrated by BO-investors. A legitimate question is if BO-investors in the future can persist to produce excess returns if they simultaneously do not create operational long term value according to the long term value added hypothesis? One could however argue that BO-investors perhaps contribute with operational value added inputs, but that these measures perhaps more often materializes more quickly than for VC-backed firms and thus are not visible during the post exit period. This is of course only speculations but seems to be an additional promising area of future research.

# References

Axelson, U., Stromberg, P., and Weisbach, M. S., (2009) Why Are Buyouts Levered? The Financial Structure of Private Equity Funds, The Journal of Finance, 64, 1549-82.

Bain & Company (2014), Global Private Equity Report 2014. Boston: Bain & Company, Inc.

Barringer, B. R., Jones, F. F. and Neubaum, D. O. (2005) A quantitative content analysis of the characteristics of rapid growth firms and their founders, Journal of Business Venturing, 20, 663–87.

Baum, J. A. and Silverman, B. S. (2004) Picking winners or building them? Alliance, intellectual, and human capital as selection criteria in venture financing and performance of biotechnology startups, Journal of Business Venturing, 19, 411–36.

Belghitar, Y. and Dixon, R. (2012) Do venture capitalists reduce underpricing and underperformance of IPOs? Applied Financial Economics, 22, 33–44.

Bertoni, F., Colombo, M. G. and Grilli, L. (2011) Venture capital financing and the growth of high-tech start-ups: disentangling treatment from selection effects, Research Policy, 40, 1028–43.

Bonini, S., (2013) Secondary Buyouts (working paper)

Brav, A. and Gompers, P. A. (1997) Myth or reality? The long run underperformance of initial public offerings: evidence from venture and non venture capital-backed companies, The Journal of Finance, 52, 1791–821.

Chemmanur, T. J., Krishnan, K. and Nandy, D. K. (2011) How does venture capital financing improve efficiency in private firms? A look beneath the surface, Review of Financial Studies, 24, 4037–90.

Chou, D-W., Gombola, M., Liu, F-Y., (2009) Earnings management and long-run stock performance following private equity placements, Quantitative Finance Accounting, 34, 225–45.

Coakley, J., Hadass, L. andWood, A. (2007) Post-IPO operating performance, venture capital and the bubble years, Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 34, 1423–46.

Colombo, M. G. and Grilli, L. (2010) On growth drivers of high-tech start-ups: exploring the role of founders' human capital and venture capital, Journal of Business Venturing, 25, 610–26.

Davis, S. J., Haltiwanger, J. and Jarmin, R. (2008) Private Equity and Employment. The Global Economic Impact of Private Equity Report 2008, World Economic Forum, New York. Dushnitsky, G. and Lenox, M. J. (2006) When does corporate venture capital investment create firm value?, Journal of Business Venturing, 21, 753–72.

Engel, D. (2002) The impact of venture capital on firm growth: an empirical investigation, Discussion Paper 02/02, Centre for European Economic Research (ZEW), Mannheim.

EVCA Statistics (2013) Exploring the impact of private equity on economic growth in Europe, Frontier Economics

EQT website (2014-05-01) Available from: http://www.eqt.se/About-EQT/Corporate-Governance/

Gompers, P. and Lerner, J. (2001) The venture capital revolution, The Journal of Economic Perspectives, 15, 145–68.

Guo, B., Yun, L. and Pérez-Castrillo, D. (2012) Investment, duration, and exit strategies for corporate and independent venture capital-backed start-ups, Barcelona GSE Working Paper No. 602, Barcelona GSE, Barcelona.

Hardymon, F., Leamon, A. and Lerner, J. (2011) Note on Private Equity Partnership Agreements. Harvard Business School.

Harris, S. R., Jenkinson, T., Kaplan, S. N., (2012) Private equity performance: what do we know? Working Paper 17874

Hellmann, T. and Puri, M. (2002) Venture capital and the professionalization of startup firms: empirical evidence, The Journal of Finance, 57, 169–97.

Hsu, D. H. (2006) Venture capitalists and cooperative start-up commercialization strategy, Management Science, 52, 204–19.

IESE Business School, Ernst & Young (2013) The Venture Capital and Private Equity Country Attractiveness Index Annual, IESE Business School.

Jain, B. A. and Kini, O. (1995) Venture capitalist participation and the post-issue operating performance of IPO firms, Managerial and Decision Economics, 16, 593–606.

Jelic, R. and Wright, M. (2011) Exits, performance, and late stage private equity: the case of UK management buy-outs, European Financial Management, 17, 560–93.

Jensen, M. C. (1989), Eclipse of the Public Corporation, Harvard Business Review, 67, 61-74.

Jensen, M. C. and Meckling, W. H. (1976), Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behavior, Agency Costs and Ownership Structure, Journal of Financial Economics, 3, 305-60.

Kaplan, S. (1989) The effects of management buyouts on operating performance and value, Journal of Financial Economics, 24, 217–54.

Kaplan, S., Lerner, J. (2010) It Ain't Broke: The Past, Present, and Future of Venture Capital, Journal of Applied Corporate Finance, 22, 1–12.

Kaplan, S. N. and Stromberg, P. (2003) Financial contracting theory meets the real world: an empirical analysis of venture capital contracts, The Review of Economic Studies, 70, 281–315.

Kelly, R. (2012) Drivers of private equity investment activity: are buyout and venture investors really so different? Venture Capital, 14, 309–30.

Kortum, S. and Lerner, J. (2000) Assessing the contribution of venture capital to innovation, The RAND Journal of Economics, 31, 674–92.

Lerner, J. (1995) Venture capitalists and the oversight of private firms, The Journal of Finance, 50, 301–18.

Levis, M. (2011) The performance of private equity-backed IPOs, Financial Management, 40, 253–77.

Lindsey, L. (2008) Blurring firm boundaries: the role of venture capital in strategic alliances, The Journal of Finance, 63, 1137–68.

Meles, A., Monferrà, S., and Verdoliva, V. (2014) Do the effects of private equity investments on firm performance persist over time? Applied Financial Economics, 24:3, 203-18,

Morris, P. (2010) Private equity, public loss?, Working Paper No. 96, Centre for the Study of Financial Innovation, London.

Palepu, K. G. (1990), Consequences of Leveraged Buyouts, Journal of Financial Economics, 27, 247-62.

Sahlman, W. A. (1990) The structure and governance of venture capital organizations, Journal of Financial Economics, 27, 473–521.

Smith, A. J. (1990) Corporate ownership structure and performance: the case of management buyouts, Journal of Financial Economics, 27, 143–64.

Sørensen, M. (2007) How smart is smart money? A two-sided matching model of venture capital, The Journal of Finance, 62, 2725–62.

Teoh, H. S., Welch, I., Wong, T. J., (1998) Earnings Management and the Long-Run Market Performance of Initial Public Offerings, The Journal of Finance, 53, 1935–74

Tian, X. (2012) The role of venture capital syndication in value creation for entrepreneurial firms, Review of Finance, 16, 245–83.

Wang, C. K., Wang, K. and Lu, Q. (2003) Effects of venture capitalists' participation in listed companies, Journal of Banking & Finance, 27, 2015–34.

World Bank, (2013) The Case For Emerging Market Private Equity, International Finance Corporation, World Bank Group.

Wright, M., Gilligan, J. and Amess, K. (2009) The economic impact of private equity: what we know and what we would like to know, Venture Capital, 11, 1–21.